
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 
 
LaWANDA GETER on behalf of   : 
herself and all other similarly  : CIVIL ACTION NO. 
situated persons,    : 
  Plaintiffs   :  
      : 
vs.      : 
      :    
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, a : 
corporate conglomerate comprising a  : 
parent and more than ninety   : 
subsidiaries, conducting business  : 
through at least six business entities;  : 
to wit:       : 
GE Commercial Finance, GE   : AUGUST 22, 2007 
Healthcare, GE Industrial, GE   : 
Infrastructure, GE Money and  : 
NBC Universal    : 
  Defendant   :  
 
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 This is an action seeking damages against General Electric Company 

(hereinafter GE or defendant), a corporate entity comprising a parent and, upon 

information and belief, more than ninety (90) subsidiaries that conduct business 

through at least six (6) business entities that, upon information and belief, are 

entities having a common board of directors that manages, directs and/or 

conducts the business affairs of GE.  This action is brought by LaWanda Geter, a 

black woman of African-American descent.  Claims are brought for violation of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1886, as amended in 1991, codified at 42 U.S.C. §1981 

(Section 1981) and the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended and codified at 42 

U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. for discrimination on the basis of color and race with 
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respect to compensation, promotion, mentoring, training, resources and business 

opportunities, retention, performance evaluation, and other terms and conditions 

of employment and retaliation for complaints about illegal practices associated 

with such terms and conditions of employment.  Plaintiff also brings pendant 

claims under parallel provisions of state law (i.e. the Connecticut Fair 

Employment Practices Act).  The six (6) business entities through which 

defendant GE conducts its business affairs through more than three-hundred 

thousand (300,000) employees are: 

 (a) GE Commercial Finance that had a 2006 revenue of $23.8 billion, 

comprising 17% of defendant’s 2006 profit and which employs some 22,000 

employees. 

 (b) GE Healthcare that had a 2006 revenue of $17 billion, comprising 

18% of defendant’s 2006 profit and which employs some 46,000 employees. 

 (c) GE Industrial that had a 2006 revenue of $33.5 billion, comprising 

5% of defendant’s 2006 profit and which employs some 85,000 employees. 

 (d) GE Infrastructure that had a 2006 revenue of $47.4 billion, 

comprising 16% of defendant’s 2006 profit and which employs some 85,000 

employees. 

 (e) GE Money that had a 2006 revenue of $21.7 billion, comprising 

15% of defendant’s 2006 profit and which employs some 50,000 employees. 

 (f) NBC Universal that had a 2006 revenue of $16.2 billion, comprising 

6% of defendant’s 2006 profit and which employs some 15,000 employees. 

 GE, as above described, has, upon information and belief, more than 
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300,000 employees.  While the number of black, African American employees is 

numerous enough for Class action purposes, there are disproportionately fewer 

such employees than there would be but for racial discrimination; and, of those 

that are employed, they are disproportionately underrepresented in the higher 

echelons of employment as evidenced by job title and by compensation, among 

other indicators of being underrepresented in desirable terms and conditions of 

employment.   

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This is a class action brought by plaintiff on behalf of herself and other 

similarly situated individuals against GE alleging systematic discrimination 

against black, African-American “administrative and professional employees” on 

the basis of color and race with respect to compensation, promotion, mentoring, 

training, resources and business opportunities, performance evaluations, 

disciplinary action and other terms and conditions of employment, as well as 

retaliation against black, African-American employees who complain of the above 

described discriminatory treatment, in violation of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, as 

amended in 1991, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (Section 1981), Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended, codified at 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq. (Title 

VII) and the Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act, codified at Conn. Gen. 

Stat. 46a-60 et seq. 

2. The term “administrative and professional employees” for purposes of this 

complaint means those GE employees in pay grades ranging from upper 

administrative band through professional band, to lead, senior and executive 
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bands.  

3. The individual facts concerning the claims of LaWanda Geter contained in 

this complaint involve her personal experiences, but such experiences are 

common to and typical of that suffered by other black, African-American 

administrative and professional employees on a routine basis at all locations with 

defendant’s corporate structure and without regard to pay grade or title.  

4. As set forth in more detail in the individual facts concerning LaWanda 

Geter, the defendant has regularly discriminated against black, African-American, 

administrative and professional band employees with respect to work 

assignments, training, access to accounts, mentoring, promotion, performance 

evaluations resulting in adverse determinations including, without limitation, 

discharges and constructive discharges, lower pay rates and bonuses, retaliation 

against black, African-American administrative and professional band employees 

who complain about such discrimination.  These practices have significantly and 

adversely impacted the job success, career and income of plaintiff and the class 

systematically and discriminatorily such that there exists statistical under 

representation of persons within the class here referred to in the higher levels of 

employment classification, disparity in rates of pay, longer time periods within 

jobs without promotion, as well as other similar and dissimilar objective indicators 

that confirm disparate impact and disparate treatment of black African American 

GE employees as a whole.   

5. These discriminatory practices represent an ongoing systematic, 

company-wide pattern and practice rather than a series of isolated incidents.  
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Defendant’s written policies and practices, notwithstanding, the unwritten and 

actual practices subject plaintiff and Class members to ongoing disparate impact 

and disparate treatment based on their color and race as is confirmed by actual 

fact patterns and statistics.  This pattern and practice of discrimination and 

retaliation has been furthered by the allowance of subjective decision-making by 

a predominantly Caucasian management structure irrespective of written anti-

discrimination policies and constitutes a continuing violation of Section 1981, 

Title VII and the Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act.  

6. Absent injunctive relief, defendant will continue their unlawful practices to 

the detriment of the Class.  Class wide injunctive and declaratory relief is 

necessary to redress the defendant’s unlawful conduct. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. Jurisdiction of this court is invoked under the provisions of 28 U.S.C. 

§1343 and 28 U.S.C. § 1981.  The supplemental jurisdiction of this court is 

invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367. 

8. Venue is proper in this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b) and (c) 

THE PARTIES 

9. The plaintiff, LaWanda Geter, is a black African-American woman and a 

resident of Bridgeport, Connecticut.  She has been employed in various 

capacities by GE Commercial Finance - Corporate Financial Services since 

1997.  She is currently employed as an Assistant Vice President (AVP) in the 

Bank Loan Group, having been forced to accept an undesirable lateral transfer in 

late May 2007.  She has remained stuck at the AVP level longer than her 
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similarly situated white peers, several of whom started work far more recently 

than plaintiff and who were promoted beyond the AVP level after an average of 1 

or 2 years in that position.  A non-exclusive list of white employees who have 

been promoted while plaintiff has been held back by a palpable “glass ceiling” 

include: Joseph Burt and Jonathan Wainberg. 

10. The defendant GE is a corporation formed, upon information and belief, 

under the laws of New York and duly authorized to do business in Connecticut 

and throughout the United States and elsewhere.  General Electric Company is 

said to maintain its principal place of business at 3135 Easton Turnpike, Fairfield, 

CT 06431.  Plaintiff’s office is within the GE Commercial Finance – Corporate 

Financial Services Group that maintains its principal place of business in the 

District of Connecticut at 201 - 401 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut.   

11. General Electric Company’s three hundred (300,000) thousand employees 

are to be found in most states and Washington, D.C.  As well, GE Commercial 

Finance is a worldwide financial organization with business groups offering 

wealth management, investment banking, private banking, securities, asset 

management, commercial loans, and other services throughout the United 

States.  GE Commercial Finance conducts its operations through its bank and 

non-bank subsidiaries operating in most states, including Connecticut.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

12. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure on behalf of a Class of black, African-American administrative and 

professional employees of defendant based on discriminatory practices, common 
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and typical to all persons in the Class and arising at any time from the earliest 

date that plaintiff’s administrative filing will permit this cause of action to 

encompass up to the present and ongoing.  The plaintiff is a member of the 

Class she seeks to represent.  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the definitions 

of the Class and the time period covered by the complaint based on discovery 

and legal developments. 

13. The members of the Class identified herein are so numerous that joinder 

of all members is impracticable.  Although the precise number of black, African-

American administrative and professional employees is currently unknown, it is 

far greater than can be feasibly addressed through joinder.  During the course of 

discovery that exact number of black, African-American administrative and 

professional employees will be ascertained via relevant records and via 

communications by and through plaintiff and other similarly situated employees.  

Anecdotal information already reveals more than one thousand (1,000) such 

employees will be includable in the Class. 

14. There are questions of law or fact common to the Class, including, without 

limitation: 

 a. why are defendant’s written policies, practices and procedures 

opposing discrimination utterly ineffectual in preventing 

discrimination against plaintiff and the Class; 

 b. whether the defendant has a policy or practice of assigning black, 

African-American administrative and professional employees to 

inferior positions when compared to their white, Caucasian  
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counterparts; 

 c. whether the defendant has a policy or practice of giving black, 

African-American administrative and professional employees less 

favorable job assignments than comparable white, Caucasian 

employees, thus preventing Class members from advancing in their 

administrative and professional careers; 

  d. whether defendant has a policy or practice of providing lower 

compensation, both in terms of base salary and bonuses, to black, 

African-American employees compared with similarly situated 

white, Caucasian  employees; 

 e. whether defendant’s black, African-American administrative and 

professional employees have been promoted at rates that are 

disproportionately low compared to rates at which white, Caucasian  

professional employees have been promoted; 

 f. whether defendant has a policy or practice of providing fewer 

resources, supports and professional opportunities to black, 

African-American administrative and professional employees 

compared with similarly situated white, Caucasian employees; 

 g. whether defendant engage in the practice of “racial steering” in their 

decisions as to promotions, assignments, business opportunities 

and other terms and conditions of employment; 

 h. whether defendant has a policy or practice of favoring the 

assignment of black, African-American administrative and 
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professional employees to accounts that are unlikely to result in 

closed or high value deals;  

 i. whether defendant has a policy or practice of favoring the 

assignment of white, Caucasian professionals to accounts with a 

high likelihood of resulting in closed and high value deals; 

 j. whether defendant has a policy or practice of favoring the 

assignment of white, Caucasian administrative professional 

employees to lead positions with the most lucrative accounts and/or 

other positions that lead to promotion or other favorable terms and 

conditions of employment; 

 k. whether defendant has a policy or practice of avoiding the 

assignment of black, African-American administrative and 

professional employees to lead positions; 

 l. whether defendant has a policy or practice of retaliating against 

black, African-American administrative and professional employees 

who complain about the other discriminatory practices outlined 

herein;   

  m. whether defendant illegally engage in the discriminatory and 

retaliatory acts and practices alleged herein; 

 n. whether defendant’s policies concerning performance evaluations, 

including, without limitation, its so-called performance improvement 

plan (PIP) procedures adversely affected black, African-American 

administrative and professional employees under either a disparate 
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treatment or disparate impact theory; 

 o. whether black African American administrative and professional 

employees have been discharged, constructively discharged and 

thus been adversely affected in and with respect to job retaliation 

under either a disparate treatment or disparate impact theory; 

 p.  whether the employment policies and practices of the defendant at 

issue have adversely affected black, African-American 

administrative and professional employees under either a disparate 

treatment or disparate impact theory with respect to reductions in 

work force or layoffs; 

 q. whether equitable relief is warranted and the nature of such relief; 

 r. whether defendant’s discriminatory employment practices 

constitute a continuing violation; and 

s. whether defendant’s conduct warrants an award of punitive 

damages. 

15. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims and experiences of the members 

of the Class.  The plaintiff has either been subjected to each and every one of the 

discriminatory practices articulated in paragraph 14a-s, or knows of others, 

directly or indirectly, or has reason to believe others have, in fact, been subjected 

to such illegal practices, systemically and class-wide.  The policies and practices 

complained of in this Complaint affect the entire Class. 

16. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

Class.  Plaintiff has no conflict with the Class members and has retained 
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counselors who are experienced in causes of this nature. 

17. This action is properly maintainable under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure because defendant has acted and/or refused to act on grounds 

generally applicable to the Class, making appropriate final injunctive or 

declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole.  The Class members are 

entitled to injunctive relief to end defendant’s common, uniform, unfair, 

discriminatory and retaliatory policies and practices. 

18. Class certification is also appropriate pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure because common questions of law and fact 

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the Class, 

and because a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this litigation.  The Class members have been damaged 

and are entitled to recovery as a result of defendant’s common, uniform, unfair, 

discriminatory and retaliatory policies and practices.  Defendant has 

computerized account data, payroll and personnel data that will make 

calculations of damages for specific Class members relatively simple.  The 

propriety and amount of punitive damages are based on the conduct of the 

defendant, making these issues common to the Class. 

ALLEGATIONS OF INDIVIDUAL PLAINTIFF,  LaWANDA GETER 

19. Plaintiff LaWanda Geter (Geter) began her career at GE in June 1995 as a 

GE-sponsored INROADS intern in Westminster, Colorado.  As an intern, Geter 

worked in the customer service and collections departments for GE Money - 

Retailer Financial Services for two years.   
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20. Prior to completing her internship, Geter sought various permanent 

professional opportunities within GE.   In 1996, Geter met GE Human Resource 

Manager Beth McKay from GE Commercial Finance – Corporate Financial 

Services located in Stamford, CT.  Geter was recruited by McKay for a position 

on the audit staff within GE Commercial Finance - Corporate Financial Services.   

21. In June 1997, Geter was hired onto the GE Commercial Finance - 

Corporate Financial Services audit staff.  Geter was the only African American 

hired onto the 1997 audit staff, a class of approximately 40.   

22. Between 1997 and 1998, Geter observed that she and other African 

Americans were scheduled for substantially fewer survey audits than similarly 

situated Caucasian peers.  Geter, in particular, was largely scheduled to perform 

recurring audits (not bonus eligible) on smaller ticket loans which impacted: 1) 

Geter’s pay with respect to survey audit bonuses; 2) Geter’s ability to work on 

larger ticket loans; and 3) Geter’s exposure and promotability.     

23. Given Geter’s overexposure to the small ticket lending group within GE 

Commercial Finance - Corporate Financial Services, on December 7, 1998, 

Geter accepted what she thought was a 3-month temporary assignment with the 

small ticket lending group.  Geter was under the impression that after she 

completed her assignment she would be promoted to a traditional 12-month 

Business Analyst role (professional band).   

24. After almost six (6) months in the purportedly “temporary assignment”, on 

or before July 1999, Geter’s title was changed to Business Analyst (professional 

band) but her work assignments and responsibilities did not change.  Geter still 
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performed the duties of a loan administrator (below professional band), in 

contrast to her similarly situated Caucasian peers, who acted in the traditional 

Business Analyst capacity.     

25. Geter performed loan administrator duties from before her July 1999 

“promotion” through April 2000.  By 2000, Geter’s similarly situated Caucasian 

peers (those from her entering class of 1997) had been promoted from their 12-

month Business Analyst roles to Associate roles (bonus eligible role).   

26. During the years 1999 and 2000, Geter also watched as loan 

administrators that she had trained were “fast tracked” onto the audit staff. 

27. Upon returning from maternity leave in February 2000, Geter was told by 

account managers that they figured Geter would have “quit and gone back to 

Denver”.   

28. Geter returned to her former role working as a loan administrator.  She 

also received a poor performance evaluation dated March 13, 2000.  Geter 

responded in writing to the poor performance evaluation. 

29. In approximately April 2000, after three years in GE Commercial Finance 

– Corporate Financial  Services and only after all of her peers in the class on 

1997 and many subsequent hires had been given such opportunities, Geter was 

given her first opportunity to underwrite a new deal.    

30. Between April 2000 and December 2000, Geter successfully underwrote 

five (5) commercial loan transactions of which three (3) transactions closed for 

$35MM in total commitments.  Additionally, Geter managed two accounts that 

totaled $1.9MM in total commitments.   
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31. In early 2001 Geter received a Management Award in the amount of 

$5,000 for her underwriting efforts.   

32. Through information and belief, the Management Award plaintiff received 

in 2001, and subsequent bonuses, were considerably less than those received 

by Caucasian peers in her class of 1997 and those subsequently hired. 

33. By the middle of the 2002 calendar year, approximately two (2) years after 

the peers from her 1997 entering class, Geter had been promoted to the position 

of Associate. 

34. By the middle of 2002, the majority of Geter’s peers from her 1997 

entering class had been promoted to the position of Assistant Vice President 

(AVP). 

35. More Caucasian peers, including those hired subsequent to Geter, were 

promoted from mid-2002 to April 2003. 

36. A recommendation for Geter’s promotion to AVP was made in October 

2002.  Nevertheless, in April 2003, Geter had still not been promoted to AVP. 

37. In April 2003, Geter sent an email to Human Resources Manager, Mark 

Melanson, requesting an update on her promotion from Associate to Assistant 

Vice President.  Within a month, and without any formal response, Geter was 

promoted to Assistant Vice President. 

38. In June 2004, Geter interviewed with the Retail Team.  During an interview 

with James Hogan, Geter was told that Hogan did not believe that Geter was 

capable of doing the job.  Despite this, Geter took a lateral position with the 

Retail team headed by Joseph Nemia, Craig Winslow, and James Hogan.   
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39. Geter proceeded not only to perform satisfactorily in the new position, but 

on July 2, 2004, she was nominated to attend the 2004 Crotonville Beginning 

Leadership Skills course.  Nominations for these courses are select in nature, 

reserved only for high potential and high performing employees.  Geter was also 

nominated and approved to attend the course in May 2005.    

40. On January 26, 2005, about six months into her position with the Hogan, 

Nemia, and Winslow led Retail team, Geter received an offensive, sexist, and 

race-based hostile email from Vice President Todd Gronski entitled “That’s Once” 

about a donkey that had been executed following three inadvertent “stumbles”.  

Winslow, Geter’s supervisor, was copied on the email.  The email appeared to be 

in follow-up to a request that plaintiff update some financials on an account that 

Gronski believed to be several months out-of-date.   

41. On January 27, 2005, Geter responded to Gronski with the question: 

“What is the meaning of this?”  Gronski responded that “it fit the situation.”  In a 

private email to Winslow, Geter simply stated that Gronski’s email “joke” “wasn’t 

funny”.  Winslow’s inadequate and insincere response was “I agree, but the 

future tease value it has against Todd will be funny.” 

42. In February 2005, Geter realized that she was being under-assigned to 

underwriting new deals, which was the same pattern of discrimination she had 

faced while on the audit staff prior to her lateral transfer.   

43. In early 2005, Geter requested both verbally and in writing to be assigned 

to new deals.  Nevertheless, she was denied fair and equitable assignments 

relative to her Caucasian peers.  
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44. Despite her efforts, Geter was not given any meaningful new deal 

assignments.  A number of new deals came into the office and were assigned 

exclusively to her Caucasian peers.   

45. During the period of January 2005 through October 2006, Geter was 

subjected to remarks and behavior that either: (1) reflected the internalized racist 

and sexist attitudes of her supervisors and co-workers based on her race and 

gender; or (2) suggested that she was hypersensitive and the work environment 

was fair and not racially or gender biased.  

46. Starting in July 2005, there was an announcement of internal transitioning 

of accounts from all GE Corporate Financial Services teams, including the Retail 

Team.  Through information and belief, if the work that would remain in the Retail 

team was distributed equitably, Geter’s performance of her equitable share of 

that work would qualify her for a promotion to the position of Vice President.   

47. Geter’s supervisors, however, and individuals within human resources, 

urged Geter to transfer off the Retail Team, warning vaguely, but non-specifically, 

about possible layoffs.   

48. During the summer of 2005, despite the fact that Geter’s most recent 

performance evaluation had her ranked, in various categories, as:  “Consistently 

Meets Expectations,” “Solid Values,” “Highly Valued,” and “Medium 

Promotability,” Geter  was told not that she could look forward to a meaningful 

career at GE whether on the Retail Team or elsewhere but that she could likely 

obtain at least 12 months of pay and benefits if she were to be laid off. 

49. On July 21, 2005, Geter expressed in a written complaint to Winslow a list 
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of concerns including:  i) discriminatory job assignments; ii) a request for 

inclusion on a specified new deal that had been reserved for Caucasian 

professional employees; iii) her dissatisfaction with GE’s failure to promote and 

an expectation on when and how that failure should be rectified; iv) an 

observation that she was being denied lateral promotion opportunities that 

Caucasian professional employees received; v) a complaint about the hostile 

work environment that called attention to the January 26, 2005 hostile joke 

entitled “That’s Once”; and vi) a description of the physical and emotional harm 

caused by the pattern and practices of discriminatory work assignments, failure 

to promote and the resulting lower pay received by her personally and by African 

American professionals at GE as a whole.  

50. Geter’s commitment of her frustrations and concerns to writing did not 

ameliorate her situation at GE.  She received no satisfactory response to her July 

21, 2005 complaint, and continued to experience pressure to transfer off the 

Retail Team and was threatened with a layoff if she did not do so.   

51. Also during the summer of 2005, Geter requested flexible working hours, 

wherein she proposed working 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.   

52. Shortly thereafter, Geter began to hear directly from her supervisors that 

they worried about her ability to balance her work and home responsibilities.  

53. Geter was also informed by Craig Winslow following her request for 

flexible working hours that there would be a reduction in her annual bonus. 

54. The foregoing occurred despite the fact that flexible work accommodations 

had been made for Caucasian employees without any reduction in compensation 
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and that pursuant to official GE policy a supervisor could not reduce 

compensation based upon hours worked but only for poor or deficient 

performance. 

55. In September 2005, one of Geter’s male Caucasian peers, with one year 

less experience than plaintiff, was promoted to Vice President.   

56. On November 7, 2005, Geter informed Winslow via email of her remaining 

vacation days and intention to take the last two weeks of December off.  

Winslow’s response was “Do you have that many remaining?”  

57. Geter, both verbally and in writing, informed other team members of her 

vacation plans, in order to remind them of her scheduled vacation, open items on 

their accounts, and her need for back-up while she was away from the office.   

58. Geter did not receive any response from most of her co-workers.  

Therefore, Geter contacted human resources concerning the unused vacation 

days, the rollover policy for such time, and her unanswered request for backup.  

As a result of her team’s non-responsiveness, Geter needed to work from home 

during her vacation to ensure that deadlines were met and all of her accounts 

were properly monitored. 

59. In January 2006, after working over her vacation, Geter met in person with 

human resources and explained that she felt her supervisors were “out to get 

her.” At this time, Geter provided additional examples of harassment including: 

 * Phone calls promptly at 8 a.m. from Winslow and others to confirm 
that plaintiff was at her desk, even though Winslow and Geter’s 
Caucasian peers consistently arrived to work at or after 9 a.m. and 
their total hours worked are not monitored; 
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 * Phone calls prior to lunch, during lunch, and immediately after 
lunch which often limited Geter’s ability to have lunch; 

 
 * Phone calls and work requests promptly at 5 p.m. which often 

limited Geter’s ability to leave at 5p.m., as she had requested 
accommodation to do, in order to pick up her child from after-school 
care; 

 
 * Phone calls during Geter’s doctor’s appointments and on Geter’s 

personal days; 
 
60. Without investigation, human resources simply recommended that Geter 

plan and manage her vacation and personal time better, and stated that they did 

not believe she was being singled out for disparate treatment.  

61. In February 2006, Geter received her annual bonus.  Based upon the 

2003 bonus plan ranges, Geter’s bonus payout was the equivalent to a 1st Year 

AVP’s payout, although Geter was about to become a 3rd Year AVP.    

62. Through information and belief, based in part upon the sizable disparity 

between Geter’s bonus payouts versus planned ranges from 3 years prior, 

Geter’s base salary was also unfair and inadequate in comparison to similarly 

situated peers. 

63. Geter was not promoted during April of 2006, nor did she receive a salary 

increase.  On April 13, 2006, Craig Winslow conducted Geter’s annual 

performance evaluation discussion.  Less than 9 months after Geter had 

specifically called attention to the illegal and improper work assignments in her 

work group and concomitant failures to promote herself and her African-

American professional peers, Geter was given a negative evaluation.  The 

evaluation attempted to justify the practice of assigning Geter to deals that had 
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little chance of success and that involved lower average loan commitments, in 

comparison with those given to Geter’s Caucasian peers.  

64. Shortly thereafter, on May 17, 2006, Geter closed a deal for $50MM, 

which was the largest account upon which she was ever provided an opportunity 

to work.  Geter autonomously underwrote, documented, and negotiated the 

transaction with Vice President, Steve Metivier overseeing her work.  Based 

upon Metivier’s verbal feedback, Geter believed that her underwriting 

performance exceeded expectations and that her closing of the deal would count 

towards her promotion to Vice President.  In order to document this, Geter sent 

an email request to Metivier for written feedback on her underwriting 

performance.  Geter never received a written response from Metivier.   

65. Other than this one successful deal, Geter was again subject to exclusion 

from customer meetings and assignment to accounts that were likely to dead 

end.  Through information and belief, this was because her supervisors were in 

fact “out to get her” in that they hoped to get her out of their group, if not out of 

GE altogether. 

66. In July 2006, Geter received a 4.4% merit increase at a 13.3 month 

interval.  The increase went into effect August 25, 2006.  According to the Merit 

Recognition and Salary Planning Report prepared by Eric S. Young , an 

employee with a Fully Satisfactory performance rating could receive a merit 

increase between 3 and 6%.  Thus, Geter’s merit increase fell within the Fully 

Satisfactory range. 

67. In September 2006, another Caucasian male joined the retail team.  
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Within only a few days, this Caucasian male had been assigned as the senior 

account manager to most of Geter’s portfolio.   

68. Also in the fall of 2006, Geter was given written notification that she was 

being placed on a "Performance Improvement Plan" that could lead to her 

termination from employment at GE.  

69. Geter then filed CHRO and EEOC complaints alleging racial discrimination 

and retaliation, specifically including in her EEOC complaint the fact that her 

situation is representative of the discriminatory barriers faced by the entire class 

of African American employees at GE.  Plaintiff’s CHRO claim of discrimination 

was filed on October 10, 2006 and then filed with EEOC on November 2, 2006 

and also filed on November 16, 2006 with certain corrections. 

70. On October 17, 2006, Geter had surgery and was on a Family Medical 

Leave of absence through February 9, 2007.  Geter returned to the Retail Team 

headed by Winslow and Hogan. 

71. Discrimination and retaliation against Geter continued after the filing of her 

said CHRO and EEOC charges of discrimination and retaliation in that upon the 

completion of the Performance Improvement Plan to which she was subjected, 

Geter was unilaterally transferred by GE Commercial Finance – Corporate 

Financial Services to a different team, having been given the option to accept the 

transfer or leave employment with GE, despite successful completion of the 

Performance Improvement Plan. 

72. On May 30, 2007 the EEOC issued plaintiff Notice of Right to Sue.  This 

action is commenced within ninety (90) days of the receipt by plaintiff of said 
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notice of Right to Sue. 

FIRST COUNT (Race Discrimination under federal law) 

1-73. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1-72, supra, are incorporated as 

if fully set forth herein. 

74. The act and omissions of defendant constitutes discrimination against the 

plaintiff and all members of her Class by denying them the same rights enjoyed 

by white, Caucasian employees with regard to the making, performance, 

modification and termination of their employment relationships with defendant 

and with regard to the enjoyment of the same benefits, privileges, terms and 

conditions of employment as white, Caucasian employees in violation of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1866 as amended, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1981 as well as Title VII 

of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. 

75. The defendant’s conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful and 

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of plaintiff and all other members of 

her Class under the law. 

76. By virtue of the defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, plaintiff and all 

other members of her Class have been injured, both in terms of the material 

compensation they have been afforded and in terms of the emotional strain and 

stress that they have experienced as a result of defendant’s actions. 

SECOND COUNT (Race Discrimination under state law) 

1-77. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1-76, supra, are incorporated as 

if fully set forth herein. 

78. The act and omissions of defendant constitutes discrimination against the 
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plaintiff and all other members of her Class by denying them the same rights 

enjoyed by white, Caucasian employees with regard to the making, performance, 

modification and termination of their employment relationship with defendant and 

with regard to the enjoyment of the same benefits, privileges, terms and 

conditions of employment as white, Caucasian employees in violation of the 

Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act, codified at Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-

60 et seq. 

79. The defendant’s conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful and 

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of plaintiff and all other members of 

her Class under the law. 

80. By virtue of the defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, plaintiff and all 

other members of her Class have been injured, both in terms of the material 

compensation they have been afforded and in terms of the emotional strain and 

stress that they have experienced as a result of defendant’s actions. 

THIRD COUNT (Retaliation Under Federal Law) 

1-81. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1-80, supra, are incorporated as 

if fully set forth herein. 

82. The acts and omissions of defendant constitutes retaliation against the 

plaintiff and all other members of the plaintiff’s Class in so far as after plaintiff 

and/or other members of her Class complained of discriminatory treatment on the 

basis of color and race, she experienced additional episodes of discrimination, 

was singled out for less desirable job assignments, was harassed, and was 

generally treated in ways that defendant intended to cause her to leave her 
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employment with defendant, in violation of the anti-retaliation provisions of Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3. 

83. The defendant’s conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful and 

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of plaintiff and all other members of 

her Class under the law. 

84. By virtue of the defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, plaintiff and all 

other members of her Class have been injured, both in terms of the material 

compensation they have been afforded and in terms of the emotional strain and 

stress that they have experienced as a result of defendant’s actions. 

FOURTH COUNT (Retaliation Under State Law) 

1-85. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1-84, supra, are incorporated as 

if fully set forth herein. 

86. The acts and omissions of defendant constitutes retaliation against the 

plaintiff and other members of plaintiff’s Class in so far as after plaintiff or other 

members of plaintiff’s Class complained of discriminatory treatment on the basis 

of color and race, they experienced additional episodes of discrimination, were 

singled out for less desirable job assignments, were harassed, and were 

generally treated in ways that defendant intended to cause them to leave their 

employment with defendant in violation of the anti-retaliation provisions of the 

Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act, codified at 46a-60 (a) (4). 

87. The defendant’s conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful and 

conducted in callous disregard of the rights of plaintiff and all other members of 

plaintiff’s Class under the law. 
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88. By virtue of the defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, plaintiff and all 

other members of plaintiff’s Class have been injured, both in terms of the material 

compensation they have been afforded and in terms of the emotional strain and 

stress that they have experienced as a result of defendant’s actions. 

  

 WHEREFORE, the plaintiffs respectfully pray that this Court enter orders: 

(1) Certifying this action as a class action, with plaintiff as the Class 

representative and her counsel of record as class counsel; 

(2) Adjudicating and declaring that defendant’s conduct as set forth above is 

in violation of: the Civil Rights Act of 1866 as amended, codified as 42 U.S.C. § 

1981; Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended, including its anti-

retaliation provisions, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.; and the Connecticut 

Fair Employment Practices Act, including its anti-retaliation provisions, codified at 

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-60 et seq. 

(3) Permanently enjoining and prohibiting defendant, and their officers, 

agents, employees and successors from continuing to engage in the practices 

complained of herein; 

(4) Permanently enjoining and requiring defendant to adopt policies and 

practices that ensure the cessation of all discriminatory and retaliatory practices 

complained of herein and requiring the institution of such measures as are 

necessary or appropriate to ensure that there practices do not re-emerge; 

(5) Issue a permanent injunction against defendant; and their partners, 

officers, trustees, owners, employees, agents, attorneys, successors, assigns, 
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representatives and any and all persons acting in concert with them from 

engaging in any further unlawful practices, policies, customs, usages, 

discrimination or retaliation by the defendant as wet forth herein; 

(6) Order defendant to initiate and implement programs that will:  (i)  provide 

equal employment opportunities for black African American administrative and 

professional employees; (ii) remedy the effects of the defendant’s past and 

present unlawful employment policies, practices and/or procedures; and (iii) 

eliminate the continuing effects of the discriminatory and retaliatory practices 

described above; 

(7) Order defendant to initiate and implement systems of assigning, training, 

transferring, compensating and promoting black African American administrative 

and professional employees in a non-discriminatory manner; 

(8) Order defendant to establish a task force on equality and fairness to 

determine the effectiveness of the programs described in (6) and (7) above, 

which would provide for (i) monitoring, reporting and retaining of jurisdiction to 

ensure equal employment opportunity; (ii) the assurance that injunctive relief is 

properly implemented; and (iii) in quarterly report setting forth information 

relevant to the determination of the effectiveness of the programs described in 

(6) and (7) above; 

(9) Order defendant to adjust the wage rates and benefits for the Class 

Representative and the Class members to the level that they would be enjoying 

but for the defendant’s discriminatory policies, practices and/or procedures; 

(10) Award nominal, compensatory and punitive damages to the Class 
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Representative and the Class members, in excess of $500 million dollars; 

 (11) Award back pay, front pay, lost benefits, preferential rights to jobs and 

other damages for lost compensation and job benefits with pre-judgment and 

post-judgment interest suffered by the Class Representative and the Class 

members to be determined at trial; 

(12) Awarding attorney’s fees and reimbursement of costs associated with this 

action to counsel for plaintiff and the Class; 

 (13) Retaining jurisdiction to ensure that defendant fully comply with the 

equitable relief ordered; and 

(14) Awarding plaintiff and the Class such other and further relief as may be 

appropriate in the interests of justice. 

      THE PLAINTIFF 

 
 
      By:_____________________________ 
       Jerry V. Leaphart  ct17185  
       Jerry V. Leaphart & Assoc. PC     
       8 West Street - Suite 203 
       Danbury, CT 06810 
       Tel: 203-825-6265 
       Fax: 203-825-6256 
       jsleaphart@cs.com  
       and 
 
       Susan M. Phillips 
       ct15529 
       P.O. Box 321 
       New London, CT 06320 
       Tel: 860-447-1645 
       Fax: 860-447-3482 
       phillipssusan@sbcglobal.net 
Dated: August 22, 2007 
at Danbury, Connecticut  
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